Spine Injuries

10

J.W.M. Van Goethem, M. Faure, C. Venstermans, L. van den Hauwe, F. De Belder, P.M. Parizel, and Johannes (Hans) Zwerver

Contents

10.1	Introduction 18		
10.2	Functional Anatomy 18		
10.3	Etiology and Injury Mechanism		
10.4	Sports Injuries		
	10.4.1	Sprains, Strains, and Muscle Contusions	186
	10.4.2	Cervicalgia and Cervicobrachialgia	186
	10.4.3	Acute and Chronic Lumbago	187
	10.4.4	Intervertebral Disk Injuries With(out) Radiculopathy	187
	10.4.5	Scheuermann Disease	188
	10.4.6	Spondylolysis and Spondylolisthesis	189
	10.4.7	Lumbar Stenosis	190
	10.4.8	Sacroiliac Joint Injury/Inflammation	190
	10.4.9	Fractures and Dislocations	191
10.5	Spinal Injuries Associated with Specific Sports		
	10.5.1	Sports Involving High-Velocity Incidents or Falls	192
	10.5.2	Contact Sports	195
	10.5.3	Chronic Overload Sports	195
Refer	ences		197

J.W.M. Van Goethem (🖂) • M. Faure • C. Venstermans

L. van den Hauwe • F. De Belder • P.M. Parizel

Department of Radiology, University of Antwerp, Antwerp, Belgium e-mail: Johan.vangoethem@uantwerpen.be

J (Hans). Zwerver

University Center for Sports, Exercise and Health, Center for Sports Medicine, University Medical Center Groningen, University of Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

A.W.J.M. Glaudemans et al. (eds.), *Nuclear Medicine and Radiologic Imaging in Sports Injuries*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-46491-5_10

Abstract

When participating in sport and exercise activities, various – often agedependent – injuries to any part of the spine are possible. The neck is most commonly injured in sports that involve contact, which place the cervical spine at risk of injury, in some cases with catastrophic consequences. The thoracic spine is less likely to be injured because it is relatively immobile and has extra support, but M. Scheuermann can lead to symptoms. The lower back is subject to a great deal of repetitive strain in many sports, which can result in nonspecific lumbago or more specific lumbar spine conditions, like spondylolysis and spondylolisthesis, disk disease, and lumbar stenosis which need further clinical and radiological investigation. This chapter describes the most common acute and chronic sportsrelated injuries of the spine.

10.1 Introduction

Table 10.1Etiology ofspine-related pain by age

It can be challenging to make a precise diagnosis in athletes with pain in the neck or back, not least because demonstrable pathology is not always present and psychosocial factors often play a role. Low back pain has a lifetime incidence of up to 70 % in the general population (Sarwark et al. 2010). Therefore, it is not surprising that LBP is also a common condition in athletes. In fact, the incidence of LBP in athletes has been suggested to be as high as 30 % (Dreisinger and Nelson 1996).

Cervical pain is also a common complaint in the athletic population. Some injuries are mild in nature; however, more serious injuries, especially those involving the cervical spine, can have devastating consequences (Krabak and Kanarek 2011). Pain originating from the thoracic spine is less common.

Causes of pain in these anatomical regions are rather age specific (Table 10.1). Some sports are associated with a higher than normal percentage of spine injuries.

It is important for physicians dealing with athletes suffering from back or neck pain to understand the differences between serious and mild spinal injuries. In order to make a precise diagnosis, a good knowledge of the basic anatomy of the spine and its related structures, familiarity with mechanisms of injury and common causes of back and neck pain, and a thorough understanding of the clinical presentation of the disorders in these areas is necessary.

Age	Condition
<18 years	Spondylolysis/spondylolisthesis
	Scheuermann disease
18-50 years	Acute lumbago/acute cervicalgia
	Internal disk disruption
>50 years	Chronic lumbago/facet osteoarthopathy
	Lumbar stenosis
	Osteoporosis and compression fracture

10.2 Functional Anatomy

The spine can be divided in five sections: cervical (7 vertebrae), thoracic (12 vertebrae), lumbar (5 vertebrae), sacral, and coccygeal. Special units exist for the "start-"(craniocervical junction) and "end-connections" (sacroiliac junction), articulating the spine respectively with the head and with the pelvis.

Normally the cervical and lumbar spine have a lordotic curve, whereas the thoracic spine is kyphotic. The main functions of the spine are to support the head, pelvic girdle, and abdominal organs, attachment of the thorax, protection of the spinal cord, and transfer of weight and bending movements of the head, trunk, and pelvis.

The spine consists of bones, joints, ligaments, and muscles. The vertebrae are joined by joints between the bodies (disks) and the neural arches (facets). The anterior column consists of the vertebral bodies, intervertebral disks, and the anterior and posterior ligaments. Other ligaments are the inter- and supraspinous ligaments and the ligamentum flavum. The posterior column includes the neural arch, facet (zygapophyseal) joints, spinal process, and pars interarticularis (the area between the upper and lower facet joints). Important neural structures (spinal cord, conus medullaris, and cauda equine) lie within the spinal canal that runs through the vertebral foramen.

The intervertebral disks are fibrocartilaginous structures located between the vertebral bodies. It has three components: (1) the annulus fibrosus, the outer circumferential ring with collagen layers arranged in a "criss-cross" type pattern to resist torsional, axial, and tensile loads; (2) the nucleus pulposus, the central core which is composed of 70 % water, determines the disk height and provides resistance to axial compression; and (3) cartilaginous vertebral endplates.

Different muscle groups act on the spine which can be divided into (1) the anterior muscle group (interspinal, intertransverse); (2) the middle muscle group semispinalis, multifidus, and rotators; (3) the posterior muscle group (erector spinae, iliocostal thoracis, longissimus thoracis, and iliocostal lumborum); and (4) the accessory muscle group (latissimus dorsi and trapezius). The anatomy of the neck is also complex; however, it is beyond the scope of this book to give a detailed description.

10.3 Etiology and Injury Mechanism

Acute muscle strains, ligament sprains, and soft tissue contusions are a very common cause of back and neck pain in athletes (Mautner and Huggins 2012). However, most low back injuries are not the result of a single exposure to a high-magnitude load, but instead a cumulative trauma from sub-failure magnitude loads: for instance, repeated small loads (e.g., bending) or a sustained load (e.g., sitting). In particular, low back injury has been shown to result from repetitive motion at end range. Sports that use repetitive impact (e.g., running), a twisting motion (e.g., golf), or weight loading at the end of a range of motion (e.g., weightlifting), commonly cause damage to the lower back (Alexander 1985). For example, repetitive hyperextension of the low back (gymnastics, figure skating, diving) is a risk factor for the development of spondylolysis.

Contact sports such as football and ice hockey carry an inherent risk of cervical spine injury. The major mechanism of serious cervical injury is an axial load or a large compressive force applied to the top of the head (Chao et al. 2010). This mechanism is more dangerous when the neck is slightly flexed, because the spine is brought out of its normal lordotic alignment, which does not allow for proper distribution of force to the thorax. Flexion puts the cervical spine in a straight line; thus, the musculature cannot assist in absorbing the force. Injury to the cervical spine occurs when it is compressed between the body and the rapidly decelerating head. When a fracture results, if the bone fragments or herniated disk materials encroach on the spinal cord, neurologic damage will occur. This mechanism is the primary cause of cervical fracture, dislocation, and quadriplegia.

10.4 Sports Injuries

10.4.1 Sprains, Strains, and Muscle Contusions

The vast majority of back pain in the athlete occurs as a result of soft tissue sprain, strain, or contusion, and these are often a diagnosis of exclusion (Mautner and Huggins 2012). Sprain represents stretching of a ligament beyond its elastic limit. Strain is tearing of a muscle during concentric or eccentric loading. Contusion occurs after blunt trauma to the soft tissue and often leads to formation of a hematoma. These injuries are readily diagnosed based on history and clinical examination. Initially sprains, strains, and contusions can be very debilitating, but most respond to conservative management with rest, NSAIDS, and massage. Activities can be resumed when pain resolves. In case the pain does not disappear or neurological symptoms develop, further examinations should be considered.

10.4.2 Cervicalgia and Cervicobrachialgia

Most neck pain is regarded as nonspecific in the absence of radiological evidence of relevant pathoanatomy. Acute cervicalgia is characterized by a sudden onset of sharp neck pain with protective deformity and limitation of movement. It typically occurs either after a sudden, quick movement or on waking. There may have been unusual movements or prolonged abnormal postures prior to the onset of pain (Hutson and Speed 2010).

The "stinger" or "burner" phenomenon is seen frequently in American football and rugby and less often in other contact sports (Standaert and Herring 2009). The player experiences transient upper extremity burning-type pain that may also be accompanied by paresthesia and/or weakness. Traction or compression of the cervical nerve root and/or plexus brachialis is considered to be the underlying mechanism. Symptoms may be localized to the neck or may radiate to the arm and hand. The symptoms are usually transient, but persistent neurological dysfunction and recurrent stingers may occur.

10.4.3 Acute and Chronic Lumbago

Lumbago can be defined as mild to severe pain or discomfort in the area of the lower back (Patrick et al. 2014). The pain can be acute (sudden and severe) or chronic if it has lasted more than 3 months. Most people will experience lumbago at some point in their life and so do athletes. It can occur at any age but is a particular problem in younger people whose work involves physical effort and much later in life in the elderly. Athletes present with pain across the lower part of the back that sometimes radiates into the buttocks, the back of the thigh, or to the groin. The pain is usually worse on movement. There can be a tense spasm of the muscles surrounding the spine, which causes a stiff back with limitation of flexion and extension of the spine. In some severe cases, the back may tilt to one side causing a change in posture or a limp. If the pain is accompanied by a tingling sensation or numbress in the back or buttocks or leg, which may pass right down into the foot, this is called sciatica, and it indicates irritation of the sciatic nerve, which passes down from each side of the spine to the feet. In most cases it settles in a few days to weeks, but for some it is a persistent problem. In the majority of cases, it is impossible to identify the exact cause of low back pain. Due to a forceful sports-related movement, there may, for example, have been tiny strains or tears of some of the small muscles and ligaments, which can be difficult to pinpoint within the complex structure that is the human back. In most cases of lumbago, no imaging is necessary. However, in about a quarter of cases, a specific problem can be found. Often, these athletes are suffering from conditions like osteoarthritis of the facet joints, a slipped disk (prolapse of an intervertebral disk), a collapse or fracture of one or more vertebrae (especially in the elderly athletes, when they have fallen or there is a deformation of natural spine curvature (scoliosis) or more rarely, skeletal damage due to tumors or infection.

10.4.4 Intervertebral Disk Injuries With(out) Radiculopathy

Discogenic pathology is the primary cause in almost 50 % of young to middleaged adults that complain of low back pain (LBP), whereas it is the cause of only a minority of cases in young inactive adolescents. Adolescent athletes, however, have a higher risk for internal disk disruption (IDD) than their inactive peers with back pain due to a discogenic cause in 11 % of cases (Haus and Micheli 2012; Mautner and Huggins 2012). The adolescent growth spurt appears to be the most vulnerable time for injuries to the lumbar intervertebral disk. Repetitive hyperflexion and extension loading on the lumbar disk during sports can lead to endplate irregularities, Schmörl nodes, annular tears, disk protrusions, and endplate fractures. Competitive sports and sports with more frequent trunk rotation, as, for example, gymnastics, soccer, tennis, and golf, are associated with early lumbar disk degeneration. Discogenic pain is often nonspecific. Some findings may suggest a discogenic nature of the pain: midline pain, pain with periods of unsupported sitting, and pain worsening with forward flexion. Posterior annular tears without nerve root compression can cause radicular type buttock, groin, and leg pain. On examination often there is a decreased flexibility. Neurologic deficits are absent.

In case of herniation of the nucleus pulposus with nerve root compression patients typically present with low back, buttock, or hip pain and radicular symptoms including numbness, tingling, and sharp radiating pain in the lower extremity. Pain can be made worse by coughing or sneezing. Besides a full examination of the spine, a careful neurologic examination has to be performed, looking for (subtle) deficits in strength, sensation, or reflexes. Special test like the straight leg raise and slump test can be helpful. One should realize that this classical radicular pattern might be absent in younger patients.

MRI allows excellent evaluation of the intervertebral disk and may show early degenerative changes including disk signal reduction, loss of height, bulging, apophyseal abnormalities, and Modic changes and its interaction with nearby structures like nerve roots (see Chap. 11). However, many asymptomatic patients will have abnormal MRI studies and this should be kept in mind. The natural history of low back pain is often favorable and the mainstay of treatment is nonsurgical. Athletes should be encouraged to remain active (activity modification), and the use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) as a first-line medication should be considered. Physical therapy to retrain the stabilizing spinal musculature results in less LBP recurrence.

10.4.5 Scheuermann Disease

The prevalence of Scheuermann disease is approximately 1-8 % (Haus and Micheli 2012; Lowe and Line 2007). The typical presentation is in the late juvenile age period (8–12 years). Cosmetic deformity caused by increased thoracal kyphosis is the most common complaint of patients with Scheuermann disease and is typically the primary reason for young patients to seek medical attention. The natural history remains controversial. Scheuermann disease tends to be symptomatic in the acute phase (during the teenage years) with thoracic pain worsening by activity and diminishing later in life. Patients with Scheuermann have more back pain than their healthy peers. This pain is believed not to interfere with daily activities. A recent study, however, reports a lower quality of life and more risk for disability in the activities of the daily living (Ristolainen et al. 2012).

The specific etiology remains unknown but is probably multifactorial. Genetic factors, failure in endplate ossification, chronic trauma (sports, hard labor), and hormonal factors are mentioned. Besides the most frequent "classic" Scheuermann

found at the mid-thoracic spine, there also is a "lumbar" type (type II) localized at the thoracolumbar junction. This type II is typically seen in athletically active adolescent males or those involved in heavy lifting. There is a strong association with repetitive activities involving axial loading of the immature spine. In lumbar Scheuermann typically there is no kyphosis. Endplate irregularities can be more severe and can be confused with tumor, infection, or other conditions.

Imaging plays an important role in defining this condition. Radiological findings, including the typical Schmörl nodes, are discussed in Chaps. 11 and 12. Treatment of classic Scheuermann is controversial. Physical therapy is recommended and patients that are skeletally immature with a kyphosis between 45° and 65° are candidates for bracing. Surgery is generally considered if kyphosis is more than 65° and is associated with pain not alleviated by other methods. Unlike the classic type, the treatment of lumbar Scheuermann is more straightforward as its course is non-progressive. Symptoms generally resolve with rest, activity modification, and time (Afshani and Kuhn 1991; Lowe and Line 2007; Ristolainen et al. 2012).

10.4.6 Spondylolysis and Spondylolisthesis

Spondylolysis is defined as a unilateral or bilateral bony defect in the pars interarticularis (also known as the isthmus) of the vertebral posterior elements. In the general population, the incidence of spondylolysis is around 6–8 % (McTimoney and Micheli 2003). In the athletic population, however, the incidence of spondylolysis is much higher, up to 63 % (Rossi 1978). Spondylolysis is the primary cause of back pain in athletes and responsible for approximately 47 % of low back pain in this population (Micheli and Wood 1995). Spondylolysis is rarely seen in children younger than 5 years, which makes a congenital pathogenesis not very likely. The incidence increases with age until about 20, after which the incidence stabilizes (Brooks et al. 2010). Spondylolysis is more frequent in boys than in girls and more frequent in whites than in blacks (Leone et al. 2011). More recent studies suggest an equal prevalence between boys and girls (Haus and Micheli 2012). This might be due to a general increase in the number of female athletes, especially in sports such as ballet and gymnastics. Spondylolisthesis appears to be more frequent in girls (Loud and Micheli 2001).

The pathogenesis remains controversial. Most likely spondylolysis is a multifactorial condition in which a stress fracture occurs in a congenitally weak or dysplastic pars interarticularis (Leone et al. 2011). The mechanism of injury is often a combination of repetitive forces like flexion, extension, and rotation of the lumbar spine. Sports associated with an increased frequency of spondylolysis are typically sports requiring hyperextension motions such as gymnastics and diving. Contact sports such as football, soccer, hockey, and lacrosse also have an increased risk of spondylolysis (Afshani and Kuhn 1991). The injury may be unilateral or bilateral and occurs most commonly (in 95 % of cases) at the L5 vertebra. When the injury is bilateral, spondylolisthesis may occur. Spondylolisthesis generally refers to the forward translation of one vertebra relatively to the next more caudal vertebra. It mostly involves the L5–S1 segment. It has different etiologies (cfr. Wiltse classification) with isthmic spondylolisthesis being the most common subtype (Haus and Micheli 2012).

Spondylolysis may be completely asymptomatic. If there are symptoms, the athlete typically complains of a mechanical-type low back pain, typically getting worse with hyperextension and improving with rest. The pain may radiate to the buttocks or posterior thigh. The onset is often insidious, but can be precipitated by an acute injury. Common findings on physical examinations are a hyperlordotic posture and bilateral hamstring tightness. Hyperextension with a one-leg stance exacerbates the pain. Radicular signs are less common, but may occur in the presence of spondylolisthesis (Haus and Micheli 2012; Leone et al. 2011). The role of imaging is discussed in Chaps. 11 and 12.

The treatment of spondylolysis is initially conservative with cessation of sporting activities and spinal bracing for 3–6 months. The aim is to reduce pain and to facilitate healing. Surgical treatment is typically reserved for patients who do not respond to conservative treatment after 6 months. Surgery is necessary in 9–15 % of patients with spondylolysis and/or low-grade spondylolisthesis. Surgery should not be considered lightly as it often concerns young patients (Leone et al. 2011).

10.4.7 Lumbar Stenosis

Degenerative lumbar spinal stenosis is caused by mechanical factors and/or biochemical alterations within the intervertebral disk that lead to disk space collapse, facet joint hypertrophy, soft tissue infolding, and osteophyte formation, which narrows the space available for the thecal sac and exiting nerve roots (Lee et al. 2013; Issack et al. 2012). The clinical consequence of this compression is neurogenic claudication and varying degrees of leg and back pain. Symptoms include radicular pain, numbness, tingling, and weakness. It is a common diagnosis that is occurring with increased frequency in sports medicine clinics (Borg-Stein et al. 2012). Degenerative lumbar spinal stenosis is a major cause of pain and impaired quality of life in the elderly. The natural history of this condition varies; peripheral vascular disease presents similarly and must be considered in the differential diagnosis.

10.4.8 Sacroiliac Joint Injury/Inflammation

The sacroiliac (SI) joint may also give rise to low back pain. Symptoms usually develop insidiously and are worsened by sports activities (Brolinson et al. 2003). There is palpation tenderness over the SI-joint. Spine extension is often painful and the FABER test reproduces pain in the affected SI-joint. Straight leg raise testing is negative. Symptoms may be quite similar to those found in patients with spondylolysis. Inflammation of the SI-joint can be associated with several other

conditions like Crohn's disease, psoriasis, and ankylosing spondylitis (seronegative spondyloarthropathies) and Reiter's syndrome. Serological screening and imaging (Chaps. 11 and 12) should be performed in case of doubt with regard to the diagnosis.

10.4.9 Fractures and Dislocations

Flexion injuries of the cervical spine can cause compression fractures of the vertebral bodies (McRae and Esser 2008). Flexion fractures occur most frequent at the level C5 and C6 in adolescents. When combined with significant axial loading, flexion injuries can result in burst fractures of the vertebral bodies with retropulsion of bony fragments into the spinal canal (Maxfield 2010). The spine is particularly vulnerable for rotational forces; combined rotational forces can result in more severe subluxation due to increased disruption of supporting tissue. Because of the small, flat, almost horizontal configuration of the articular processes of the cervical spine, dislocation can occur relatively easy in case of trauma (Boran et al. 2011).

Acute fractures of the thoracolumbar spine are less frequent than cervical injuries and tend to be less catastrophic. In the thoracolumbar region, compression fractures are the most common type in young athletes. Compression fractures, as the name suggests, occur due to a compression force on the spine. This may happen during a traumatic injury such as a fall from a height, landing on the feet or buttocks (McRae and Esser 2008). More frequently, vertebral compression fractures occur in older people with osteoporosis or other preexisting spinal conditions where the bone is weak. There may not be one particular incident that causes it and pain may develop gradually.

Avulsion fractures of the spinous and transverse processes are also seen in athletes. Avulsion of the spinous process of the C7 and Th1 vertebrae are known as *clay-shoveler* fractures.

10.5 Spinal Injuries Associated with Specific Sports

Some sports are associated with a higher than normal percentage of spine injuries.

Acute spinal trauma can be seen in many sports and is related to an increased risk for trauma. These traumatic injuries do not differ significantly from those seen in non-sports-related trauma, e.g., falls or motor vehicle accidents.

More specific spine injuries are seen in chronic overload and/or strain to the spine occurring in some sports. These will be discussed in detail in this chapter.

The most common sports responsible for spinal injuries are equestrian events (41.8 %), rugby (16.3 %), diving (15.3 %), Gaelic football and hurling (9.6 %), cycling (4.2 %), and miscellaneous (12.7 %) (Boran et al. 2011). In general more males (74 %) than females (26 %) are injured, and the average age is 30.2 years (range 14–72 years).

Injuries are mostly to the cervical spine (60 %) and less to the thoracic (21 %) or lumbar spine (19 %). In 40 % of patients, more than one vertebral level is affected (Boran et al. 2011).

10.5.1 Sports Involving High-Velocity Incidents or Falls

10.5.1.1 Skiing and Snowboarding

Spinal injuries associated with recreational skiing and snowboarding mostly result from high-energy falls and to a lesser degree from collisions with other skiers, trees, or equipment. In competition snowboarding, spinal injuries are specifically related to the risks associated with jumping and performing moves.

Orthopedic injuries sustained in alpine skiing/snowboarding are numerous, with spinal injuries comprising between 1 and 20 % of all injuries (Floyd 2001; Levy and Smith 2000; Prall et al. 1995; Yamakawa et al. 2001). Snowboarding accidents result in more fractures, especially in the upper limbs, fewer knee injuries, and more severe injuries caused by impacts rather than by torsions (Yamakawa et al. 2001). Spinal injuries are more than two times more frequent in snowboarders compared to skiers.

The incidence of spinal injury in skiing and snowboarding is in general very low (0.001/1,000 skier-days). Although less frequent, spine and spinal cord injuries are the most debilitating and costly of serious injuries sustained by skiers (Prall et al. 1995). The majority (80 %) of spinal lesions are thoracic or lumbar, and multilevel lesions are seen in 20 % of patients. Compression fractures with loss of height of the anterior part of the vertebral body are the most frequent thoracic and lumbar lesions seen in 38–90 % of patients (Floyd 2001; Prall et al. 1995). Severe and/or unstable thoracic or lumbar fractures are seen in less than 5 % of patients. Snowboarders in general have the same pattern of lesions except for transverse process fractures that are significantly more frequent.

Cervical lesions on the other hand, although more rare, are usually more severe. In one major study, spinal cord injuries were seen in 17 % of ski accidents with spinal fractures, usually in association with cervical lesions (Prall et al. 1995).

There is a significantly higher incidence of spinal injury among beginner snowboarders than among beginner skiers. Furthermore, intermediate or expert snowboarders were more likely to be injured because of jumping than beginners, whereas about 70 % of spinal injuries caused by skiing results from a simple fall (Yamakawa et al. 2001).

As a final note in skiers and snowboarders under 13 years of age, helmet use does not increase the incidence of cervical spine injury but does reduce the incidence of head injury (Macnab et al. 2002).

10.5.1.2 Cycling

Although the vast majority of injuries suffered while cycling are minor, acute spinal injuries have been reported. Profound neurological deficits are reported in patients that are thrown over the handlebars while traveling downhill at speed (McGoldrick et al. 2012). Spinal injuries are more frequently seen in mountain bikers, due not only to the characteristics of the terrain but also to the readiness to assume a higher risk compared to cycle racing (Schueller 2010).

Neck and back pain is extremely common in cyclists, occurring in up to 60 % of riders. To avoid or lessen spinal pain, proper fit of the bicycle is critical. Proper frame selection and adjustment can be made by following existing guidelines for frame size, seat height, fore and aft saddle position, saddle angle, and reach and handlebar height (Mellion 1991). Especially an appropriate pedal unit position may reduce low back pain. Positioning the pedals behind the saddle axis permits more physiological spine angles in comparison with the classic one having the pedals in front of the saddle axis (Fanucci et al. 2002). Lower back pain is the most prevalent overuse injury seen in cyclists, with an incidence up to 45 %, and low back pain causes the highest rates of functional impairment and medical attention in cycling (Clarsen et al. 2010). This high incidence might be caused by the creep induced in the viscoelastic tissues of the spine as a result of cyclic loading that subsequently desensitizes the mechanoreceptors within, allowing full exposure to instability and injury (Solomonow et al. 1999).

10.5.1.3 Horseback Riding

Horseback riding is the most common sport responsible for a spinal injury. Spinal injuries are an inevitable risk of horse riding with the rider high from the ground, relatively unprotected, and the horse that travels at speeds of up to 65 km/h. Moreover, the spines of the riders are relatively unprotected since effective gear to protect the spine still does not exist. Compared to other sports, horse riding accounts for the largest number of hospital admittance days by far and between 7 and 10 % of all riders requiring hospital admission suffer from spinal injuries (Hessler et al. 2014). In the United States, the rate of serious injuries from horseback riding has been reported to range from 1 per 350 to 1,000 h of riding. In British Columbia, Canada, the rate of hospital admissions for horseback riding injuries is 0.49 per 1,000 h of riding. In the Netherlands, every year, one out of seven riders will sustain an injury (Siebenga et al. 2006). Several studies have suggested that horseback riding is riskier than motorcycle riding, skiing, football, and hockey (Lin et al. 2011; Siebenga et al. 2006). In some countries, 70 % of all spine fractures caused by sports activities are sustained by equestrian activities (Hipp et al. 1977). Although numerically few, spine and spinal cord lesions from horse riding accidents are frequently catastrophic giving rise to paralysis or dead (Silver 2002). The injury of actor Christopher Reeve ("Superman") in 1995, resulting in a complete C2-level SCI, heightened public awareness of the risks associated with horseback riding.

Up to 80–90 % of horseback riding accident victims are female (Hessler et al. 2014; Siebenga et al. 2006). Most spinal injuries are caused by falling of the horse (65–80 %), followed by being kicked by a horse. Around 80 % of the injuries occur at the thoracolumbar junction, either at Th12, L1, or L2 (Siebenga et al. 2006). Lumbar injuries being the most frequent (70 %), thoracic injuries second most frequent (30 %), while cervical injuries are more rare (Hessler et al. 2014). Other

studies found relatively more thoracic injuries (Roe et al. 2003). The majority of fractures (85%) are vertebral compression lesions (Hessler et al. 2014). Spinal cord injury from horseback riding affects an equal proportion of women and men, has a wide age range, and most commonly results in incomplete tetraplegia followed by complete paraplegia (Lin et al. 2011). Overall figures from the USA show that between 1973 and 1985, a total of 9,647 new admissions with spinal cord injury, 14.2% were due to sport, of which 2% represented horseback riding injuries (Stover and Fine 1987). A fall from a horse would appear to be most likely to cause a spinal cord injury. A kick, while it may cause a fracture of a transverse process, usually does not cause spinal cord injury (Silver 2002).

Consequences of injury caused by horse riding can be profound and the long-term effects should not be underestimated (Siebenga et al. 2006). Even years after a major trauma, 43 % of the patients have complaints and 11–20 % will remain permanently unfit for work (Dekker et al. 2003).

As far as stress or overload spine injuries in horse riding go, there is no conclusive MRI evidence to suggest that the cause lies in undue disk degeneration, spondylolysis, spondylolisthesis, or pathologic changes of the paraspinal muscles of the lumbar spine (Kraft et al. 2009). Still, compared to the general population, a high incidence of back pain is found among riders, but a significant correlation between the intensity of riding or the riding discipline and frequency or severity of back pain could is not found. For riders with preexistent back pain, the pace "walk" seems to have a positive influence on pain intensity (Kraft et al. 2009). Saddle types might play a role in the incidence of low back pain and is less often seen in riders that use a deep seated/Western style saddle than in those that use a traditional style/general purpose saddle (Quinn and Bird 1996).

10.5.1.4 Diving

Diving is the second or third most common cause of sports-related spinal injuries. In diving accidents the cervical spine is most often (>90 %) affected, with a highest number of fractures at C5 and C6, followed by C7. Most of these injuries are compression-flexion type injuries. Jefferson fractures, compression fractures of the ring of C1, are also frequently seen in diving accidents and occur by axial compression to the vertex such as diving in shallow water and hitting the bottom with the head first. Overall injury rates for diving are estimated as 4.00 injuries per 1,000 exposures for men and 3.78 injuries per 1,000 exposures for women (Amorim et al. 2011). Many spinal diving injuries result in tetraplegia, in some studies up to 45 % (Amorim et al. 2011). These injuries are associated with a very specific patient profile of a young, healthy, athletic male (>95 %) who suffered an injury to the cervical spine after diving into shallow water almost occurring exclusively during spring and summer time (Korres et al. 2006). Dangerous diving into swimming pools can result in spinal injuries with drastic consequences, including permanent physical disability and a profound impact on socio-professional status. Moreover, there are significant financial costs to society (Borius et al. 2010).

10.5.2 Contact Sports

In contact sports, also called "collision sports," players directly or indirectly have physical contact with an opponent. The pattern of spinal injuries in American football, rugby, lacrosse, soccer, and ice hockey resembles closely. These injuries are induced by relatively high-velocity body contacts between athletes, usually of opposing teams. In ice hockey, impact of the head with the boards after being checked or pushed from behind is the most common mechanism of spinal cord injury (Tator et al. 2004).

The cervical spine is at greatest risk for injury in these sports, followed by thoracic and lumbar injuries in that order (Mall et al. 2012). Cervical spinal cord injuries have been the most common catastrophic football injury and the second leading direct cause of death attributable in American football (Cantu and Mueller 2003). The relatively common "stinger" is a neuropraxia of a cervical nerve root(s) or brachial plexus and represents a reversible peripheral nerve injury. Less common and more serious an injury, cervical cord neuropraxia is the clinical manifestation of neuropraxia of the cervical spinal cord due to hyperextension, hyperflexion, or axial loading (Rihn et al. 2009). Up to 2 out of 100,000 American football players are diagnosed with cervical cord neuropraxia. Characterized by temporary pain, paresthesias, and/or motor weakness in more than one extremity, there is a rapid and complete resolution of symptoms and a normal physical examination within 10 min to 48 h after the initial injury. Stenosis of the spinal canal, whether congenital or acquired, is thought to predispose the athlete to cervical cord neuropraxia (Rihn et al. 2009). Permanent neurological deficits or even dead after catastrophic cervical spine injuries are seen in 3–15 per 1,000,000 football players (Kim et al. 2003). These lesions mostly occur after cervical hyperflexion and are usually accompanied by facet joint fracture dislocations and/or anterior wedge compression fractures. Facet dislocations, in particular bilateral facet dislocations, are identified as the most common types of cervical spine injury in rugby. Trauma occurs most often at lower cervical spinal levels, notably the C4/5 and C5/6 motion segments (Kuster et al. 2012). Hyperextension lesions in contact sports are less common but might also have catastrophic results (Silva et al. 2006).

The complex biomechanics of heading in soccer are not completely defined, especially with regard to long-term effects on the neck and cervical spine. Existing studies of long-term effects suggest a predisposition to degenerative changes of the cervical spine, though they are somewhat limited, even when coupled with data regarding athletes in other sports (Mehnert et al. 2005).

10.5.3 Chronic Overload Sports

10.5.3.1 Gymnastics, Figure Skating, and Dance

Spinal injuries in gymnastics, figure skaters, and dancers are not uncommon. Because of the unique demands of these sports, which repetitively place significant forces across the spine, potential causes of back pain include spondylolysis, Scheuermann disease, intervertebral disk pathology, and mechanical sources of pain (Kruse and Lemmen 2009). The spine is a frequently injured area of the body in dancers, and many issues stem from poor technique and muscle imbalance (Gottschlich and Young 2011). In male dancers and figure skaters, there is a higher incidence of low back injuries allegedly due to their lifting requirements. However, imaging studies have failed to demonstrate higher rates of degenerative disk disease in gymnasts or female dancers than in control groups of the same age (Capel et al. 2009). Spondylolysis on the other hand is more frequent in elite-level gymnasts than in the general population (Bennett et al. 2006). Specific segmental muscle control exercises of the lumbar spine may be of value in preventing and reducing low back pain in young gymnasts (Harringe et al. 2007). Some studies even suggest lower levels of low back pain in dancers due to greater leanness, not smoking, displaying less anxious/depressive behavior, and developing increased muscle strength and flexibility (Cupisti et al. 2004).

10.5.3.2 Weightlifting

The lower back is one of the most commonly injured body regions in powerlifting, but the injury rate is low compared to other sports (Siewe et al. 2011). Other studies report a high frequency of lower back injuries in weightlifting (Alexander 1985). In a study of 12 discordant pairs of monozygotic twins, there were no effects of power sports (2,300 vs. 200 h of weightlifting) on disk degeneration seen on MRI (Videman et al. 1997). The effect of wearing a back belt on spinal injuries is also controversial, reducing spine loading according to some (Kingma et al. 2006), but increasing injury rate of the lumbar spine according to others (Siewe et al. 2011).

10.5.3.3 Golf, Tennis, and Cricket Fast Bowling

Injuries related to participation in golf and tennis become more common given the increased popularity of these sports. Golf is considered to be an activity associated with a moderate risk for sports injuries (Sutcliffe et al. 2008). Spinal injuries in golf, tennis, and bowling are usually attributable to overuse of the lumbar spine. More specifically these sports demand a combination of trunk and shoulder rotation while swinging a club or racket or moving a ball at high speeds and loads (socalled rotational sports). In tennis the spine is one of the most frequently injured body parts (Hjelm et al. 2010; Kondric et al. 2011). In golf, the mean peak compressive load at the lower lumbar spine is over six times the body weight during the downswing and the mean peak anterior and medial shear loads approach 1.6 and 0.6 times the body weight during the follow-through phases (Lim et al. 2012). These loads predispose the golfing population to muscle strains, lumbar disk disease, spondylolysis, and facet joint arthropathy (Hosea and Gatt 1996). In cricket fast bowlers, the pars interarticularis of each vertebra is vulnerable to injury due to repetitive flexion, rotation, and hyperextension (Elliott 2000). Fast bowling is directly associated with the development of symptomatic pars lesions of the lumbar spine, particularly unilateral L4 stress lesions, in a significant proportion of the adolescent bowlers (Engstrom and Walker 2007). Within cricketers, unilateral

spondylolyses tend to arise on the contralateral side to the bowling arm (Gregory et al. 2004). Modic type I changes, especially asymmetrically and at the side of the golfers handedness, might be responsible for some of the low back pain complaints (Mefford et al. 2011).

Modification of sports kinematics reduces loads and spinal injuries in all of these sports. Adaptation of the swing in golfers and specifically more hip rotation, more trunk flexion, and less lumbar flexion is correlated with a lower incidence of low back pain (Lindsay and Horton 2002; Vad et al. 2004). In tennis one-handed strokes lay considerably less stress on the lower lumbar spine than double-handed strokes (Kawasaki et al. 2005). In cricket fast bowlers reducing the level of shoulder alignment counter-rotation significantly reduce the incidence and progression of lumbar disk degeneration (B. Elliott and Khangure 2002).

In severe cases, overloads might lead to acute lesions. Stress fractures and avulsion fractures of the cervical and/or upper thoracic spinous processes are documented in golfers (Kang and Lee 2009; Kim et al. 2012). Intradiscal hematoma is described in an elite tennis player (Baranto et al. 2010).

References

- Afshani E, Kuhn JP (1991) Common causes of low back pain in children. Radiographics 11(2):269–291. doi:10.1148/radiographics.11.2.1827529
- Alexander MJ (1985) Biomechanical aspects of lumbar spine injuries in athletes: a review. Can J Appl Sport Sci 10(1):1–20
- Amorim EC, Vetter H, Mascarenhas LB, Gomes EG, Carvalho JB, Gomes JF (2011) Spine trauma due to diving: main features and short-term neurological outcome. Spinal Cord 49(2):206–210. doi:10.1038/sc.2010.79
- Baranto A, Hellstrom M, Sward L (2010) Acute injury of an intervertebral disc in an elite tennis player: a case report. Spine 35(6):E223–E227. doi:10.1097/BRS.0b013e3181bf12b5
- Bennett DL, Nassar L, DeLano MC (2006) Lumbar spine MRI in the elite-level female gymnast with low back pain. Skeletal Radiol 35(7):503–509. doi:10.1007/s00256-006-0083-7
- Boran S, Lenehan B, Street J, McCormack D, Poynton A (2011) A 10-year review of sports-related spinal injuries. Ir J Med Sci 180(4):859–863. doi:10.1007/s11845-011-0730-4
- Borg-Stein J, Elson L, Brand E (2012) The aging spine in sports. Clin Sports Med 31(3):473–486. doi:10.1016/j.csm.2012.03.002
- Borius PY, Gouader I, Bousquet P, Draper L, Roux FE (2010) Cervical spine injuries resulting from diving accidents in swimming pools: outcome of 34 patients. Eur Spine J 19(4):552–557. doi:10.1007/s00586-009-1230-3
- Brolinson PG, Kozar AJ, Cibor G (2003) Sacroiliac joint dysfunction in athletes. Curr Sports Med Rep 2(1):47–56
- Brooks BK, Southam SL, Mlady GW, Logan J, Rosett M (2010) Lumbar spine spondylolysis in the adult population: using computed tomography to evaluate the possibility of adult onset lumbar spondylosis as a cause of back pain. Skeletal Radiol 39(7):669–673. doi:10.1007/ s00256-009-0825-4
- Cantu RC, Mueller FO (2003) Catastrophic spine injuries in american football, 1977-2001. Neurosurgery 53(2):358–362; discussion 362–363
- Capel A, Medina FS, Medina D, Gomez S (2009) Magnetic resonance study of lumbar disks in female dancers. Am J Sports Med 37(6):1208–1213. doi:10.1177/0363546508330128

- Chao S, Pacella MJ, Torg JS (2010) The pathomechanics, pathophysiology and prevention of cervical spinal cord and brachial plexus injuries in athletics. Sports Med 40(1):59–75. doi:10.2165/11319650-000000000-00000
- Clarsen B, Krosshaug T, Bahr R (2010) Overuse injuries in professional road cyclists. Am J Sports Med 38(12):2494–2501. doi:10.1177/0363546510376816
- Cupisti A, D'Alessandro C, Evangelisti I, Piazza M, Galetta F, Morelli E (2004) Low back pain in competitive rhythmic gymnasts. J Sports Med Phys Fitness 44(1):49–53
- Dekker R, Groothoff JW, Eisma WH, ten Duis HJ (2003) Clinical treatment of equestrian injuries in groningen, 1990-1998: serious long-term effects. [Klinisch behandelde paardrijletsels in Groningen, 1990–1998: ernstige langetermijngevolgen]. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 147(5):204–208
- Dreisinger TE, Nelson B (1996) Management of back pain in athletes. Sports Med 21(4):313–320
- Elliott BC (2000) Back injuries and the fast bowler in cricket. J Sports Sci 18(12):983–991. doi:10.1080/026404100446784
- Elliott B, Khangure M (2002) Disk degeneration and fast bowling in cricket: an intervention study. Med Sci Sports Exerc 34(11):1714–1718. doi:10.1249/01.MSS.0000036863.74140.90
- Engstrom CM, Walker DG (2007) Pars interarticularis stress lesions in the lumbar spine of cricket fast bowlers. Med Sci Sports Exerc 39(1):28–33. doi:10.1249/01.mss.0000241642.82725.ac
- Fanucci E, Masala S, Fasoli F, Cammarata R, Squillaci E, Simonetti G (2002) Cineradiographic study of spine during cycling: effects of changing the pedal unit position on the dorso-lumbar spine angle. Radiol Med 104(5–6):472–476
- Floyd T (2001) Alpine skiing, snowboarding, and spinal trauma. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 121(8):433-436
- Gottschlich LM, Young CC (2011) Spine injuries in dancers. Curr Sports Med Rep 10(1):40–44. doi:10.1249/JSR.0b013e318205e08b
- Gregory PL, Batt ME, Kerslake RW (2004) Comparing spondylolysis in cricketers and soccer players. Br J Sports Med 38(6):737–742, doi:38/6/737 [pii]
- Harringe ML, Nordgren JS, Arvidsson I, Werner S (2007) Low back pain in young female gymnasts and the effect of specific segmental muscle control exercises of the lumbar spine: a prospective controlled intervention study. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 15(10):1264–1271. doi:10.1007/s00167-007-0289-9
- Haus BM, Micheli LJ (2012) Back pain in the pediatric and adolescent athlete. Clin Sports Med 31(3):423–440. doi:10.1016/j.csm.2012.03.011
- Hessler C, Eckert V, Meiners J, Jurgens C, Reicke B, Matthes G, Ekkernkamp A, Puschel K (2014) Causes, injuries, therapy and possibilities of prevention of equine-related accidents. Results of a 2-center-study [Ursachen, Verletzungen, Therapie und Praventionsmoglichkeiten von Unfallen im Reitsport. Ergebnisse einer 2-Center-Studie]. Unfallchirurg 117(2):123–127. doi:10.1007/s00113-012-2275-z
- Hipp E, von Gumppenberg S, Hackenbruch W, Kircher E (1977) Fracture of the vertebrae due to riding accidents. [Die Wirbelfraktur als Reitunfall]. Fortschr Med 95(24):1567–1571
- Hjelm N, Werner S, Renstrom P (2010) Injury profile in junior tennis players: a prospective two year study. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 18(6):845–850. doi:10.1007/s00167-010-1094-4
- Hosea TM, Gatt CJ Jr (1996) Back pain in golf. Clin Sports Med 15(1):37-53
- Hutson MA, Speed C (2010) Sports injuries, New edn. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- Issack PS, Cunningham ME, Pumberger M, Hughes AP, Cammisa FP Jr (2012) Degenerative lumbar spinal stenosis: evaluation and management. J Am Acad Orthop Surg 20(8):527–535. doi:10.5435/JAAOS-20-08-527
- Kang DH, Lee SH (2009) Multiple spinous process fractures of the thoracic vertebrae (clayshoveler's fracture) in a beginning golfer: a case report. Spine 34(15):E534–E537. doi:10.1097/ BRS.0b013e3181a983bb
- Kawasaki S, Imai S, Inaoka H, Masuda T, Ishida A, Okawa A, Shinomiya K (2005) The lower lumbar spine moment and the axial rotational motion of a body during one-handed and

double-handed backhand stroke in tennis. Int J Sports Med 26(8):617-621. doi:10.105 5/s-2004-830338

- Kim DH, Vaccaro AR, Berta SC (2003) Acute sports-related spinal cord injury: contemporary management principles. Clin Sports Med 22(3):501–512
- Kim SY, Chung SK, Kim DY (2012) Multiple cervical spinous process fractures in a novice golf player. J Korean Neurosurg Soc 52(6):570–573. doi:10.3340/jkns.2012.52.6.570
- Kingma I, Faber GS, Suwarganda EK, Bruijnen TB, Peters RJ, van Dieen JH (2006) Effect of a stiff lifting belt on spine compression during lifting. Spine 31(22):E833–E839. doi:10.1097/01. brs.0000240670.50834.77
- Kondric M, Matkovic BR, Furjan-Mandic G, Hadzic V, Dervisevic E (2011) Injuries in racket sports among slovenian players. Coll Antropol 35(2):413–417
- Korres DS, Benetos IS, Themistocleous GS, Mavrogenis AF, Nikolakakos L, Liantis PT (2006) Diving injuries of the cervical spine in amateur divers. Spine J 6(1):44–49, doi:S1529-9430(05)00739-4 [pii]
- Krabak BJ, Kanarek SL (2011) Cervical spine pain in the competitive athlete. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am 22(3):459–471, viii. doi:10.1016/j.pmr.2011.02.007
- Kraft CN, Pennekamp PH, Becker U, Young M, Diedrich O, Luring C, von Falkenhausen M (2009) Magnetic resonance imaging findings of the lumbar spine in elite horseback riders: correlations with back pain, body mass index, trunk/leg-length coefficient, and riding discipline. Am J Sports Med 37(11):2205–2213. doi:10.1177/0363546509336927
- Kruse D, Lemmen B (2009) Spine injuries in the sport of gymnastics. Curr Sports Med Rep 8(1):20–28. doi:10.1249/JSR.0b013e3181967ca6
- Kuster D, Gibson A, Abboud R, Drew T (2012) Mechanisms of cervical spine injury in rugby union: a systematic review of the literature. Br J Sports Med 46(8):550–554. doi:10.1136/ bjsports-2011-090360
- Lee JY, Whang PG, Lee JY, Phillips FM, Patel AA (2013) Lumbar spinal stenosis. Instr Course Lect 62:383–396
- Leone A, Cianfoni A, Cerase A, Magarelli N, Bonomo L (2011) Lumbar spondylolysis: a review. Skeletal Radiol 40(6):683–700. doi:10.1007/s00256-010-0942-0
- Levy AS, Smith RH (2000) Neurologic injuries in skiers and snowboarders. Semin Neurol 20(2):233–245. doi:10.1055/s-2000-9833
- Lim YT, Chow JW, Chae WS (2012) Lumbar spinal loads and muscle activity during a golf swing. Sports Biomech 11(2):197–211
- Lin CY, Wright J, Bushnik T, Shem K (2011) Traumatic spinal cord injuries in horseback riding: a 35-year review. Am J Sports Med 39(11):2441–2446. doi:10.1177/0363546511419280
- Lindsay D, Horton J (2002) Comparison of spine motion in elite golfers with and without low back pain. J Sports Sci 20(8):599–605. doi:10.1080/026404102320183158
- Loud KJ, Micheli LJ (2001) Common athletic injuries in adolescent girls. Curr Opin Pediatr 13(4):317–322
- Lowe TG, Line BG (2007) Evidence based medicine: analysis of scheuermann kyphosis. Spine 32(19 Suppl):S115–S119. doi:10.1097/BRS.0b013e3181354501
- Macnab AJ, Smith T, Gagnon FA, Macnab M (2002) Effect of helmet wear on the incidence of head/face and cervical spine injuries in young skiers and snowboarders. Inj Prev 8(4):324–327
- Mall NA, Buchowski J, Zebala L, Brophy RH, Wright RW, Matava MJ (2012) Spine and axial skeleton injuries in the national football league. Am J Sports Med 40(8):1755–1761. doi:10.1177/0363546512448355
- Mautner KR, Huggins MJ (2012) The young adult spine in sports. Clin Sports Med 31(3):453– 472. doi:10.1016/j.csm.2012.03.007
- Maxfield BA (2010) Sports-related injury of the pediatric spine. Radiol Clin North Am 48(6):1237– 1248. doi:10.1016/j.rcl.2010.07.006
- McGoldrick NP, Green C, Burke N, Synnott K (2012) Acute traumatic spinal injury following bicycle accidents: a report of three cases. Acta Orthop Belg 78(3):409–413

- McRae R, Esser M (2008) Practical fracture treatment, 5th edn. Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh/ New York
- McTimoney CA, Micheli LJ (2003) Current evaluation and management of spondylolysis and spondylolisthesis. Curr Sports Med Rep 2(1):41–46
- Mefford J, Sairyo K, Sakai T, Hopkins J, Inoue M, Amari R, Bhatia NN, Dezawa A, Yasui N (2011) Modic type I changes of the lumbar spine in golfers. Skeletal Radiol 40(4):467–473. doi:10.1007/s00256-010-1066-2
- Mehnert MJ, Agesen T, Malanga GA (2005) "Heading" and neck injuries in soccer: a review of biomechanics and potential long-term effects. Pain Physician 8(4):391–397
- Mellion MB (1991) Common cycling injuries. Management and prevention. Sports Med 11(1):52-70
- Micheli LJ, Wood R (1995) Back pain in young athletes. Significant differences from adults in causes and patterns. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 149(1):15–18
- Patrick N, Emanski E, Knaub MA (2014) Acute and chronic low back pain. Med Clin North Am 98(4):777–789, doi:S0025-7125(14)00044-3 [pii]
- Prall JA, Winston KR, Brennan R (1995) Spine and spinal cord injuries in downhill skiers. J Trauma 39(6):1115–1118
- Quinn S, Bird S (1996) Influence of saddle type upon the incidence of lower back pain in equestrian riders. Br J Sports Med 30(2):140–144
- Rihn JA, Anderson DT, Lamb K, Deluca PF, Bata A, Marchetto PA, Neves N, Vaccaro AR (2009) Cervical spine injuries in american football. Sports Med 39(9):697–708. doi:10.2165/11315190-000000000-00000
- Ristolainen L, Kettunen JA, Heliovaara M, Kujala UM, Heinonen A, Schlenzka D (2012) Untreated scheuermann's disease: a 37-year follow-up study. Eur Spine J 21(5):819–824. doi:10.1007/ s00586-011-2075-0
- Roe JP, Taylor TK, Edmunds IA, Cumming RG, Ruff SJ, Plunkett-Cole MD, Mikk M, Jones RF (2003) Spinal and spinal cord injuries in horse riding: the New South Wales experience 1976– 1996. ANZ J Surg 73(5):331–334, doi:2618 [pii]
- Rossi F (1978) Spondylolysis, spondylolisthesis and sports. J Sports Med Phys Fitness 18(4):317–340
- Sarwark JF, American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, & American Academy of Pediatrics (2010) Essentials of musculoskeletal care, 4th edn. American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, Rosemount
- Schueller G (2010) Mountain biking: Breezy ups and traumatic downs. [Mountainbiking Luftige Hohen und traumatische Tiefen]. Radiologe 50(5):460–470. doi:10.1007/s00117-009-1940-x
- Siebenga J, Segers MJ, Elzinga MJ, Bakker FC, Haarman HJ, Patka P (2006) Spine fractures caused by horse riding. Eur Spine J 15(4):465–471. doi:10.1007/s00586-005-1012-5
- Siewe J, Rudat J, Rollinghoff M, Schlegel UJ, Eysel P, Michael JW (2011) Injuries and overuse syndromes in powerlifting. Int J Sports Med 32(9):703–711. doi:10.1055/s-0031-1277207
- Silva P, Vaidyanathan S, Kumar BN, Soni BM, Sett P (2006) Two case reports of cervical spinal cord injury in football (soccer) players. Spinal Cord 44(6):383–385, doi:3101839 [pii]
- Silver JR (2002) Spinal injuries resulting from horse riding accidents. Spinal Cord 40(6):264–271. doi:10.1038/sj.sc.3101280
- Solomonow M, Zhou BH, Baratta RV, Lu Y, Harris M (1999) Biomechanics of increased exposure to lumbar injury caused by cyclic loading: Part 1. Loss of reflexive muscular stabilization. Spine 24(23):2426–2434
- Standaert CJ, Herring SA (2009) Expert opinion and controversies in musculoskeletal and sports medicine: stingers. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 90(3):402–406. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2008.09.569
- Stover SL, Fine PR (1987) The epidemiology and economics of spinal cord injury. Paraplegia 25(3):225–228. doi:10.1038/sc.1987.40
- Sutcliffe J, Ly JQ, Kirby A, Beall DP (2008) Magnetic resonance imaging findings of golf-related injuries. Curr Probl Diagn Radiol 37(5):231–241. doi:10.1067/j.cpradiol.2007.08.005

- Tator CH, Provvidenza CF, Lapczak L, Carson J, Raymond D (2004) Spinal injuries in canadian ice hockey: documentation of injuries sustained from 1943-1999. Can J Neurol Sci 31(4):460–466
- Vad VB, Bhat AL, Basrai D, Gebeh A, Aspergren DD, Andrews JR (2004) Low back pain in professional golfers: the role of associated hip and low back range-of-motion deficits. Am J Sports Med 32(2):494–497
- Videman T, Battie MC, Gibbons LE, Manninen H, Gill K, Fisher LD, Koskenvuo M (1997) Lifetime exercise and disk degeneration: an MRI study of monozygotic twins. Med Sci Sports Exerc 29(10):1350–1356
- Yamakawa H, Murase S, Sakai H, Iwama T, Katada M, Niikawa S, Sumi Y, Nishimura Y, Sakai N (2001) Spinal injuries in snowboarders: risk of jumping as an integral part of snowboarding. J Trauma 50(6):1101–1105